

City Research Online

City, University of London Institutional Repository

Citation: Downie, L. E., Keller, P. R., Busija, L., Lawrenson, J. G. ORCID: 0000-0002-2031-6390 and Hull, C. ORCID: 0000-0002-2205-4443 (2019). Blue-light filtering spectacle lenses for visual performance, sleep, and macular health in adults. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 2019(1), CD013244. doi: 10.1002/14651858.cd013244

This is the published version of the paper.

This version of the publication may differ from the final published version.

Permanent repository link: https://openaccess.city.ac.uk/id/eprint/21318/

Link to published version: http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd013244

Copyright and reuse: City Research Online aims to make research outputs of City, University of London available to a wider audience. Copyright and Moral Rights remain with the author(s) and/or copyright holders. URLs from City Research Online may be freely distributed and linked to.

City Research Online:

http://openaccess.city.ac.uk/

publications@city.ac.uk



Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews

Blue-light filtering spectacle lenses for visual performance, sleep, and macular health in adults (Protocol)

Downie LE, Keller PR, Busija L, Lawrenson JG, Hull CC

Downie LE, Keller PR, Busija L, Lawrenson JG, Hull CC.
Blue-light filtering spectacle lenses for visual performance, sleep, and macular health in adults.

Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews 2019, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD013244.

DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013244.

www.cochranelibrary.com

TABLE OF CONTENTS

HEADER	1
ABSTRACT	1
BACKGROUND	1
OBJECTIVES	4
METHODS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	7
APPENDICES	11
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	14
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST	15
SOURCES OF SUPPORT	15

Blue-light filtering spectacle lenses for visual performance, sleep, and macular health in adults

Laura E Downie¹, Peter R Keller¹, Ljoudmila Busija², John G Lawrenson³, Christopher C Hull³

¹Department of Optometry and Vision Sciences, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia. ²Biostatistics Unit, Department of Epidemiology and Preventive Medicine, Monash University, Melbourne, Australia. ³Centre for Applied Vision Research, School of Health Sciences, City University of London, London, UK

Contact address: Laura E Downie, Department of Optometry and Vision Sciences, The University of Melbourne, Level 4, Alice Hoy Building, Melbourne, Victoria, 3010, Australia. ldownie@unimelb.edu.au.

Editorial group: Cochrane Eyes and Vision Group. **Publication status and date:** New, published in Issue 1, 2019.

Citation: Downie LE, Keller PR, Busija L, Lawrenson JG, Hull CC. Blue-light filtering spectacle lenses for visual performance, sleep, and macular health in adults. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2019, Issue 1. Art. No.: CD013244. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD013244.

Copyright © 2019 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

ABSTRACT

This is a protocol for a Cochrane Review (Intervention). The objectives are as follows:

To assess whether blue-light filtering spectacle lenses impart effects on visual function, provide protection to the macula, or both. We will also examine potential effects on the sleep-wake cycle.

BACKGROUND

Description of the condition

The ubiquitous use of technology and increasing exposure to modern lighting sources that emit relatively higher amounts of blue light than traditional light sources (e.g. light emitting diodes (LEDs) and compact fluorescent lamps (CFLs) (O'Hagan 2016)), both in working and domestic environments, has raised questions concerning the potential adverse effects of excessive exposure to short-wavelength visible light. In terms of digital devices, use of LED-backlit liquid crystal displays (LCDs) has been associated with both symptoms of visual fatigue and changes to visual function, as quantified by a relative reduction in critical fusion frequency (CFF), being the frequency at which an intermittent (flickering) light stimulus appears to be in a complete steady stage to a

human observer (Isono 2013). In modern times, the range of eye and vision-related symptoms associated with prolonged computer, tablet, and e-reader use has been collectively defined as a multifactorial condition known as "Computer Vision Syndrome" (CVS) (American Optometric Association 1995; American Optometry Association 2018; Sheppard 2018).

Asthenopic symptoms, such as sore eyes, eye fatigue, headaches, blurred vision, and dry eye, have been reported to affect up to 90% of computer users (Rosenfield 2011). However, given the multifactorial nature of CVS, and that other ocular conditions (e.g. binocular vision disorders, uncorrected refractive error or presbyopia, and tear film dysfunction) can elicit similar symptomatology, the relative contribution of blue light to CVS is difficult to ascertain. Despite the absence of a clear link between blue light and CVS, a range of claims have been made in relation to the potential adverse effects of blue-light emission from digital devices. This potential

association forms the rationale for a variety of commercially-available interventions that reduce blue-light transmission to the eye (e.g. spectacle lenses, downloadable software applications, filter attachments to digital device screens, and changing internal settings on electronic devices, such as 'night mode' settings).

With respect to potential effects on sleep, the increasing use of digital devices that emit relatively higher levels of short-wavelength visible light than traditional incandescent light sources (e.g. LEDbacklit computer displays) has also raised concerns about the effect(s) of blue light (particularly evening exposure) on sleep. Such effects on human chronobiology are considered to depend upon the timing, duration, intensity, and spectral composition of the light exposure (Czeisler 2013). Some epidemiological evidence supports an association between evening use of electronic devices and adverse sleep quality, altered circadian timing and reduced daytime alertness (Chang 2015; Gamble 2014). However, experimental investigation has also failed to demonstrate an association between short-duration (one hour or less) screen use immediately prior to bedtime and altered sleep onset (Heath 2014). Some evidence suggests disruptions to biological cycles and circadian rhythm can potentially have adverse effects on a diverse range of health parameters (Hatori 2017), including associations between abnormal sleeping patterns and serious conditions such as sleep disorders (Flo 2013), metabolic dysfunction (Karlsson 2001), and cancer (Kolstad 2008). Understanding the role of blue-light filters in reducing such outcomes thus has significant public health implications.

In terms of potential effects on macular health, the maintenance of macular integrity is essential to normal visual function. In 2010, it was estimated that 2.1 million people worldwide were blind, and 6.0 million people were visually impaired, as a consequence of macular disease (Jonas 2014). A leading cause of macular disease and adult vision impairment is age-related macular degeneration (AMD) (Coleman 2008; Congdon 2004; Pascolini 2012), a slowly progressive retinal degenerative condition that increases in prevalence with age (Owen 2003; Wong 2014). About one-third of individuals aged 80 years will show some clinical signs of AMD (Klein 1992), with approximately 6% having late-stage AMD by this age, and 20% at age 90 (Rudnicka 2012). Risk factors for AMD include genetic factors (Klein 2005; Warwick 2017; Yang 2006), and tobacco smoking (Downie 2014; Thornton 2005). It is currently unclear how other factors, including short-wavelength light exposure, might contribute to the development of AMD, progression of AMD, or both (Beatty 1999). Given there is currently no means for preventing AMD onset, nor a cure for the disease, there is significant interest in novel methods for preserving macular integrity through life.

Description of the intervention

Sunlight comprises of electromagnetic radiation ranging from ultraviolet (UV) to infrared (IR). UV radiation encompasses wave-

lengths from approximately 200 nanometres (nm) to 400 nm (Youssef 2011). The visible light spectrum falls approximately between 400 nm to 760 nm, with 'short-wavelength' visible (blue) light ranging from 400 nm to 500 nm (Mainster 2005).

Blue-light filtering, also termed "blue-blocking", spectacle lenses are ophthalmic lenses (generally prescribed in prescription glasses) that are designed to selectively attenuate the transmission of UV radiation and short-wavelength visible light (Leung 2013; Mainster 2006). This is in contrast to standard spectacle lenses, which do not filter blue light and provide varying degrees of inherent UV protection depending on the lens material used (e.g. an uncoated polycarbonate material will inherently provide relatively greater UV attenuation than an uncoated CR-39 material lens).

Blue-light filtering spectacle lenses often contain a chromophore that reduces or eliminates the amount of blue-light that reaches the eye. Another approach involves coating the posterior and anterior lens surfaces with an anti-reflection interference coating that selectively decreases transmission of a portion of the blue-light spectrum; the target range of wavelengths is typically 415 nm to 455 nm, corresponding to the region of the spectrum considered to impart the highest risk of ocular damage (Boulton 2001).

A range of blue-light filtering spectacle lenses are currently commercially available; examples include blueEast (Bonastar), Blue control (Hoya), Crizal prevencia (Essilor), Dura vision/blue protect (Zeiss), Eyezen (Essilor), Gunnar (GUNNAR Optics), Kodak Total Blue (Signet Armolite Inc), and StressFree (Swisscoat).

How the intervention might work

By reducing the intraocular transmission of short-wavelength visible light, blue-light filtering spectacle lenses are hypothesised to potentially impart a range of benefits, including improving visual performance with digital device use, providing retinal protection from light-induced damage, and minimising sleep and circadian rhythm disruption associated with evening use of blue-light emitting devices.

Despite the existence of studies that have investigated the application of blue-light filtering spectacle lenses for reducing the signs or symptoms of CVS, or both (Leung 2013; Lin 2017), the specific mechanism(s) underlying how these devices might impart such benefit(s) are not known. The rationale for claims that blue light-light filtering lenses attenuate CVS is based upon the premise that modern digital devices (that emit relatively higher amounts of blue light than traditional lighting sources) are frequently being used for several hours per day and many device users experience ocular discomfort. Given that there is a correlation between discomfort glare sensitivity and brightness sensitivity with blue LEDs (Kimura-Minoda 2011), a potential mechanism may involve a reduction in discomfort glare from a LED-backlit display; however, there is no direct evidence to support this hypothesis.

With respect to the potential for intraocular light transmission to pose an ocular hazard, retinal exposure to certain wavelengths of radiation is fortunately limited by the physiological absorbance characteristics of the anterior eye. Ultraviolet wavelengths below 300 nm are absorbed by the cornea (Boettner 1962), and wavelengths between 300 nm and 400 nm are predominantly attenuated by the crystalline lens (Boettner 1962; Norren 1974). With age, the crystalline lens becomes relatively less transparent and more yellow in colour, resulting in a reduction in the degree of retinal transmission of short-wavelength visible light (400 nm to 500 nm), effectively acting as a natural blue-light filter (van Norren 2007). The change in lenticular absorbance of blue light occurs exponentially (Weale 1988), such that by 50 years of age, only 20% of short-wavelength visible light reaches the retina (Dillon 2004). In this respect, it is unclear how blue-light filtering spectacle lenses might provide any benefit(s) in adults with a physiologically-yellowed lens due to age.

A population that theoretically may be relatively advantaged by blue-light filtering spectacle lenses are individuals who have undergone cataract surgery, with implantation of an intraocular lens (IOL) that enables relatively more blue-light transmittance than the aged crystalline lens (i.e. an UV-only filtering IOL) (Dillon 2004). There is experimental evidence from animal studies (Ham 1982; Noell 1966), and cell culture experiments (Sparrow 2004), that demonstrates short-wavelength visible light exposure can induce retinal phototoxicity. The mechanism involves retinal photochemical damage (Youssef 2011), as a result of reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation, which induces protein oxidation and lipid peroxidation (Boulton 2001). Whilst the retina has several mechanisms of defence to mitigate ROS-dependent damage, these processes become less efficient with age (Margrain 2004), thus potentially rendering the ageing retina more vulnerable to phototoxicity. As a result of their relatively high oxygen requirements, the retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) and photoreceptors are considered most susceptible to blue light-induced photochemical damage (Ham 1978; Ham 1984). This experimental evidence provides the basis for a hypothesis that blue light may also induce retinal damage in humans and contribute to macular changes in AMD. In this respect, spectacle lenses that attenuate retinal bluelight exposure have been proposed to potentially be valuable for providing macular protection, and reducing the risk of AMD development progression (Beatty 1999; Bernstein 2010); a similar rationale applies to the implantation of blue-light filtering IOLs, following cataract surgery, however evidence for such a benefit is currently lacking (Downie 2018).

The potential effects of blue light exposure on sleep quality and circadian rhythm are also of relevance (Mainster 2006). The circadian clock is regulated by the suprachiasmatic nucleus in the hypothalamus, which controls melatonin secretion from the pineal gland (Goel 2013). Daytime blue-light exposure can promote subjective alertness by inhibiting the secretion of melatonin (Viola 2008). It follows that evening light exposure, particularly to shortwavelength light (between 465 nm and 495 nm), may disrupt the physiological circadian clock through a similar mechanism (Khalsa

2003; McIntyre 1989; Rahman 2014; Zeitzer 2000). This effect has received particular attention owing to the extensive use of digital devices in the evening, close to bedtime, and the potential impacts of this exposure on disrupting sleep quantity and quality (Chinoy 2018). Based upon this rationale, it has been proposed that limiting intraocular exposure to blue light in the evening, through measures such as blue-light filtering spectacle filters and using 'night mode' settings on devices, may be of value for mitigating these potentially negative effects on sleep.

Why it is important to do this review

There remains significant debate surrounding whether bluelight filtering spectacle lenses have merit in ophthalmic practice (Downie 2017). Although it is currently unknown how frequently these lenses are being prescribed (in preference to standard spectacles lenses), a range of marketing claims exist surrounding their potential benefits. In particular, it has been proposed that bluelight filtering spectacles may alleviate eye strain associated with digital device use (Ide 2015; Lin 2017), improve sleep quality (Ayaki 2016), and protect the retina, specifically the macula, from phototoxicity (Blue Light Exposed 2015; Symes 2012). However, in 2015, the UK Advertising Standards Authority (ASA) found that an advertisement by an optical retailer promoting the use of blue-light filtering spectacle lenses to "filter out harmful blue light" represented misleading advertising "in the absence of adequate substantiation" linking blue-light exposure to retinal damage in clinical populations (McCormick 2016; UK Advertising Standards Authority 2015).

There is currently a relative paucity of clinical evidence to support many claims surrounding the deleterious effects of blue-light exposure. Although ocular discomfort symptoms have been long-associated with computer and video display terminal use (Smith 1981; Ustinaviciene 2006), the relative contribution of blue light per se (rather than other potential causative factors, such binocular vision anomalies, postural factors and/or tear film dysfunction) remains unclear.

In terms of potential effects on sleep, a recent systematic review and meta-analysis (which allowed the inclusion of randomised controlled trials (RCTs), cohort, and cross-sectional studies) reported a significant association between portable screen-based media device (e.g. cell phone and table devices) access or use, in the sleep environment, and reduced sleep outcomes (including inadequate quantity, poor quality and excessive daytime sleepiness) in children (Carter 2016). However, as acknowledged by the authors of the review, the certainty of the evidence (assessed using the GRADE approach) was judged as low due to a necessary reliance on nonrandomised studies (Carter 2016). Thus there is the potential for the true effect to be substantially different from the reported effect estimate.

Concerning the potential effect(s) of blue-light filtering spectacles in imparting macular protection, 10 out of the 12 major popula-

tion-based studies that sought to determine whether there was a relationship between light exposure and AMD did not report a positive association (Mainster 2006). Similarly, it is unclear whether age-related cataract surgery, in which removal of the aged crystalline lens (which acts as a physiological blue filter) and its replacement with a non-blue light filtering IOL, is a risk factor for AMD development, AMD progression, or both. Although some studies have reported a positive association (Klein 1998; Liu 1989), others have found an absence of relationship with respect to the risk of developing late-stage AMD in individuals with earlier stages of the condition (Baatz 2008; Chew 2009). Notably, observational studies have important methodological limitations, including the potential influences of bias and confounding, which limit the interpretation of these findings.

Given the relative attenuation of short-wavelength visible light with a blue-light filter, any potentially undesirable effects on visual function, in particular alterations to colour discrimination, also need to be considered. In the context of blue-light filtering IOLs, a recent systematic review by Downie 2018 concluded that, due to a paucity of studies, it is currently unclear whether these devices affect colour vision relative to non-blue light filtering IOLs. The status of the evidence relating to blue-light filtering spectacle lenses also requires clarification.

Consequently, current limitations in the scientific literature emphasise an urgent need to clarify whether blue-light filtering spectacles affect eye strain associated with digital device use, visual performance, sleep, and macular health (Lawrenson 2017). A rigorous systematic review, considering the best-available RCT evidence, is essential to objectively evaluate the relative appropriateness of prescribing blue-light filtering ophthalmic lenses for these purposes. The relative benefits and potential harms of these devices also need to be considered. This knowledge has the capacity to inform clinical practice guidelines relating to the prescription of blue-light filtering spectacle lenses, and thus is of strong relevance to clinicians, patients, researchers, and the broader ophthalmic community. We expect that this systematic review may also identify important areas for future research in the field, to fill any evidence gaps.

OBJECTIVES

To assess whether blue-light filtering spectacle lenses impart effects on visual function, provide protection to the macula, or both. We will also examine potential effects on the sleep-wake cycle.

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

We will include randomised controlled trials (RCTs).

Types of participants

Participants in the RCTs will be adults (i.e. at least 18 years of age).

Types of interventions

We will include RCTs that compared blue-light filtering spectacle lenses with non-blue-light filtering spectacle lenses. We will exclude studies that investigated blue-light filtering spectacle lenses in combination with any other intervention, unless the same intervention was also used in the comparator group.

Types of outcome measures

Primary outcomes

The primary outcomes, measured at one month of follow-up (with an acceptable follow-up range of between two weeks and three months), will be:

- Change in visual fatigue or discomfort, measured using a questionnaire or visual analogue scale;
 - Change in CFF, measured in Hertz (Hz).

Secondary outcomes

We will consider the following secondary outcomes:

- change in best-corrected visual acuity (BCVA), with or without (disability) glare, measured in logMAR;
- change in contrast sensitivity, measured in log contrast sensitivity, with and without (disability) glare;
- change in discomfort glare, measured using a questionnaire (e.g. de Boer scale) or objectively (e.g. electromyogram);
- proportion of eyes, or individuals (as determined by the unit of analysis), with a finding of a pathological structural change at the macula, detected by clinical observation, optical coherence tomography (OCT) or retinal fundus photography;
- change in colour discrimination, considered as the standard mean difference for panel tests (e.g. Farnsworth D15 and 100-hue) or the number of errors on plate tests (e.g. Ishihara), measured under photopic, mesopic, or scotopic conditions;
- daytime alertness, considered as the proportion of participants who had reduced daytime alertness, measured using a subjective scale;
 - change in serum melatonin levels, measured in pg/mL;
 - sleep quality, measured using questionnaires or rating scales;
- overall patient satisfaction with their visual performance, measured using questionnaires or rating scales.

The follow-up period for secondary outcomes will be measured at one month (with an acceptable range of two weeks to three months), with the exception of the 'proportion of eyes, or individuals, with a finding of a pathological structural change at the macula', which will be measured at 12 months (with an acceptable range of six to 24 months).

Adverse effects

We will tabulate any ocular or systemic adverse effects, as reported in the included trials.

Search methods for identification of studies

Electronic searches

The Cochrane Eyes and Vision Information Specialist will search the following electronic databases. There will be no language or publication year restrictions.

- Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) (which contains the Cochrane Eyes and Vision Trials Register) in the Cochrane Library (latest issue) (Appendix 1);
 - MEDLINE Ovid (1946 to present) (Appendix 2);
 - Embase Ovid (1980 to present) (Appendix 3);
 - LILACS (1982 to present) (Appendix 4);
- ISRCTN registry (www.isrctn.com/editAdvancedSearch) (Appendix 5);
- US National Institutes of Health Ongoing Trials Register ClinicalTrials.gov (www.clinicaltrials.gov) (Appendix 6);
- World Health Organization (WHO) International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) (www.who.int/ictrp) (Appendix 7).

Searching other resources

We will undertake additional searching, using the bibliographies of included RCTs, to identify any other potentially relevant studies.

Data collection and analysis

Selection of studies

We will adopt a two-stage process to identify relevant trials. First, two review authors will independently evaluate the title and abstract results from the search strategies, to identify studies potentially suitable for inclusion. We will obtain full-text articles of records that at least one review author judges as relevant, or possibly relevant. Two review authors will independently assess every

full-text article and assess its suitability for inclusion in the review, according to the Criteria for considering studies for this review. We will resolve any disagreements in classification by discussion and consensus between the two review authors; if required, we will consult a third review author for a final judgement with respect to

For records where more information is considered necessary to determine eligibility, we will contact the trial authors by email to request this information. If we do not receive a response within four weeks, we will use the information provided within the full-text article to assess eligibility. We will provide details relating to the reason for excluding studies that progress to the full-text review stage, in a 'Characteristics of excluded studies' table.

Data extraction and management

Two review authors will independently extract key study data (detailed in Appendix 8) using Covidence (Covidence). In brief, relevant information to capture will include details of the study design, country, setting, participant characteristics, number of participants, outcomes, results, and any other relevant information (e.g. funding sources, declarations of interest). Wherever possible, we will extract quantitative data for pre-specified outcomes. The two review authors will resolve any discrepancies in data extraction by discussion to reach consensus; if necessary, they will consult a third review author who will adjudicate. After reaching consensus in Covidence, one review author will export the collated data into Cochrane's Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5) software (Review Manager 2014). A second review author will independently verify the data.

Assessment of risk of bias in included studies

Two review authors will independently assess the risk of bias in each of the included trials using the guidelines in Chapter 8 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Review of Interventions* (Higgins 2017). We will evaluate risk of bias in the following domains:

- selection bias (random sequence generation and allocation concealment);
 - performance bias (masking of participants and personnel);
 - detection bias (masking of outcome assessment);
 - attrition bias (incomplete outcome data);
 - reporting bias (selective reporting of outcomes);
 - other bias (funding source, other conflicts of interest).

Two review authors will judge the risk of each bias in each of the included studies as: (i) low risk, (ii) unclear risk (due to either lack of information or uncertainty over the potential for bias) or (iii) high risk. We will resolve any disagreements in risk of bias assessment by consensus.

Measures of treatment effect

We will undertake the data analyses according to the approach described in Chapter 9 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Deeks 2017).

For continuous outcomes, we will extract information on the change, from baseline, in means (and standard deviations (SDs) of changes) of the outcome measures for the intervention and comparator groups at the specified follow-up period(s). Where measures of change are not reported, we will extract the mean and SD values of the outcome for the intervention and comparator groups at the specified follow-up period(s). We will express treatment effects as the mean difference (MD), with 95% confidence intervals (CIs), between the intervention and comparator groups.

For the dichotomous outcome (i.e. proportion of participants who had reduced daytime alertness), we will compare data between the intervention and comparator groups and will present it as risk ratios (RRs) with 95% CIs.

Unit of analysis issues

For the purpose of this review, the unit of analysis will be the study participant.

Given the nature of spectacles, trials are predicted to randomise individuals (rather than eyes) to the intervention and comparator. Although paired-eye studies are unlikely, we will include these if identified.

It is possible that for some outcomes (e.g. BCVA, contrast sensitivity) data may be collected from both eyes. Where the study collected data on more than one eye per participant, we will follow guidelines for clustering or paired-eye design described in Chapter 16 of the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Higgins 2011). If only one eye per person is included in the trial, there will not be a unit of analysis issue, and we will document how the eye was selected (if specified in the study report). If individual participants are randomly allocated to the intervention but data from both eyes are included and reported, we will analyse this as 'clustered data' (i.e. with an adjustment for within-person correlation); if necessary, we may contact the trial investigators for more information to perform this analysis. For the outcome measure relating to pathological structural change at the macula, we will report either the proportion of eyes (for paired-eye studies) or the proportion of participants with structural changes in one or both eyes (for trials randomising individuals).

Dealing with missing data

For studies that have missing outcome data (e.g. omitted standard deviations or standard errors), we will attempt to contact the trial authors via email for the necessary information. If we do not receive a response within four weeks, or if the trial authors are unable to provide this information, we will use the information available in the full-text publication.

If feasible, we will undertake an intention-to-treat (ITT) analysis. We will use imputed data if the trial authors provide it using a robust method; however we will not directly impute data ourselves. If ITT data are not provided in the included trials, we will undertake an available case analysis, which assumes that data are missing at random. We will assess if this assumption is reasonable by collecting data on the number of participants excluded or lost to follow-up, and the reasons for loss to follow-up by treatment group, from each included study (as reported).

Assessment of heterogeneity

We will assess trials for heterogeneity using the recommendations outlined in Chapter 9 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Deeks 2017). We will examine clinical and methodological heterogeneity between trials by considering differences in RCT design, participant characteristics at baseline (e.g. age, gender, eligibility criteria, etc.), and the risk of bias. Statistical heterogeneity between studies will be quantified using the I² statistic (Higgins 2003). We will interpret an I² statistic of 60% or more to be at risk of moderate heterogeneity (Ng 2014). In identifying and measuring heterogeneity, we will consider the magnitude and direction of effects of individual trials, and the strength of evidence for heterogeneity (using a P value < 0.10, from the Chi² test as an indicator of significant heterogeneity).

Assessment of reporting biases

We will examine the risk of reporting bias (due to selective reporting of outcomes) by comparing the outcomes defined in the trial protocol (where available) or clinical trial registry, with those in the full-text publication(s).

If there are 10 or more studies to include in a meta-analysis, we will assess for any potential publication bias using a funnel plot. We will interpret any asymmetries in the funnel plot in association with the trial characteristics, in consideration of factors such as sample size.

Data synthesis

We will perform meta-analyses for the primary and secondary outcomes, if appropriate. If fewer than three trials are included in the meta-analysis, we will use a fixed-effect model; otherwise we will use a random-effects model.

If we determine there to be inconsistency between trial findings (e.g. effects in different directions, or I^2 statistic more than 60%, or a Chi² test P value < 0.10), such that a pooled result may not provide an appropriate summary of the findings, we will describe the pattern of individual trial results. If there is statistical heterogeneity but all of the effect estimates are in a consistent direction, such that a pooled estimate would seem to provide an appropriate summary of the individual RCT results, we will pool data in a meta-analysis.

If we deem a meta-analysis to be inappropriate, we will provide a descriptive or tabulated results summary.

Subgroup analysis and investigation of heterogeneity

If a sufficient number of trials (considered two trials per subgroup or more) are available, we will perform a subgroup analysis for factors that could potentially affect outcomes. Specifically, we will assess for the potential effects of: participant age (less than 40 years versus 40 years or older), degree of blue-light attenuation imparted by the blue-light filtering lens product ('high' block versus 'low' block), and extent of digital device use (less than two hours per day versus two or more hours per day).

Sensitivity analysis

If a sufficient number of trials meet the inclusion criteria of the review, we will perform a sensitivity analysis for the primary outcome measures, to assess for the effects of excluding trials that: (i) we judged to have a high risk of bias due in the domains of allocation concealment or lack of masking (or participants and personnel, or outcome assessors), (ii) are unpublished, and (iii) were funded by industry.

Summary of findings

We will create a 'Summary of findings' table summarising the results of the analyses, provided sufficient data are available, using the approach described in Chapter 11 of the *Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions* (Schünemann 2017). The

GRADE Working Group approach will be adopted to grade the certainty of evidence. Outcomes, measured between the intervention and control groups, will include:

- change in visual fatigue or discomfort;
- change in CFF;
- change in BCVA, with or without (disability) glare;
- proportion of eyes, or individuals, with a finding of pathological structural change at the macula;
 - change in colour discrimination;
 - sleep quality;
- proportion of participants with adverse events with a probable causal link with the study intervention.

For all outcomes, we will measure the change from baseline at one month of follow-up (with an acceptable range of two weeks to three months), with the exception of the 'proportion of participants with adverse events with a probable causal link with the study intervention' and the 'proportion of eyes, or individuals, with a finding of a pathological structural change at the macula', which we will assess at the follow-up period(s) reported by the trial authors.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Cochrane Eyes and Vision (CEV) will create and execute the electronic search strategies. The Methods section of this protocol includes some text from a standard template prepared by CEV. We thank Sharon Bentley for her comments on the protocol and Jennifer Evans and Anupa Shah for their assistance during protocol development.

REFERENCES

Additional references

American Optometric Association 1995

American Optometric Association. *Guide to the Clinical Aspect of Computer Vision Syndrome*. St Louis: American Optometric Association, 1995.

American Optometry Association 2018

American Optometry Association. Computer vision syndrome. www.aoa.org/patients-and-public/caring-for-your-vision/protecting-your-vision/computer-vision-syndrome (accessed 19 July 2018).

Ayaki 2016

Ayaki M, Hattori A, Maruyama Y, Nakano M, Yoshimura M, Kitazawa M, et al. Protective effect of blue-light shield eyewear for adults against light pollution from self-luminous devices used at night. *Chronobiology International* 2016;33 (1):134–9.

Baatz 2008

Baatz H, Darawsha R, Ackermann H, Scharioth GB, de Ortueta D, Pavlidis M, et al. Phacoemulsification does not induce neovascular age-related macular degeneration. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science* 2008;**49**(3): 1079–83.

Beatty 1999

Beatty S, Boulton M, Henson D, Koh HH, Murray IJ. Macular pigment and age related macular degeneration. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 1999;**83**(7):867–77.

Bernstein 2010

Bernstein PS, Delori FC, Richer S, van Kujik FJ, Wenzel AJ. The value of measurement of macular carotenoid pigment optical densities and distributions in age-related macular degeneration and other retinal disorders. *Vision Research* 2010;**50**(7):716–28.

Blue Light Exposed 2015

Blue light exposed. www.bluelightexposed.com/ (accessed 7 July 2018).

Boettner 1962

Boettner EA, Walter JR. Transmission of the ocular media. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science* 1962;1: 766–83.

Boulton 2001

Boulton M, Rózanowska M, Rózanowski B. Retinal photodamage. *Journal of Photochemistry and Photobiology* B, Biology 2001;**64**(2-3):144–61.

Carter 2016

Carter B, Rees P, Hale L, Bhattacharjee D, Paradkar MS. Association between portable screen-based media device access or use and sleep outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Pediatrics* 2016;**170**(12):1202–8.

Chang 2015

Chang AM, Aeschbach D, Duffy JF, Czeisler CA. Evening use of light-emitting eReaders negatively affects sleep, circadian timing, and next-morning alertness. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2015;**112**(4):1232-7.

Chew 2009

Chew EY, Sperduto RD, Milton RC, Clemons TE, Gensler GR, Bressler SB, et al. Risk of advanced age-related macular degeneration after cataract surgery in the Age-Related Eye Disease Study: AREDS report 25. *Ophthalmology* 2009; **116**(2):297–303.

Chinoy 2018

Chinoy ED, Duffy JF, Czeisler CA. Unrestricted evening use of light-emitting tablet computers delays self-selected bedtime and disrupts circadian timing and alertness. *Physiology Reports* 2018;**6**(10):e13692.

Coleman 2008

Coleman HR, Chan CC, Ferris FL 3rd, Chew EY. Agerelated macular degeneration. *Lancet* 2008;**372**(9652): 1835–45.

Congdon 2004

Congdon N, O'Colmain B, Klaver CC, Klein R, Muñoz B, Friedman DS, et al. Causes and prevalence of visual impairment among adults in the United States. *Archives of Ophthalmology* 2004;**122**(4):477–85.

Covidence [Computer program]

Veritas Health Innovation. Covidence. Melbourne, Australia: Veritas Health Innovation, accessed prior to 19 October 2018.

Czeisler 2013

Cziesler CA. Perspective: casting light on sleep deficiency. *Nature* 2013;**497**(7450):S13.

Deeks 2017

Deeks JJ, Higgins JPT, Altman DG (editors) on behalf of the Cochrane Statistical Methods Group. Chapter 9: Analysing data and undertaking meta-analyses.In: Higgins JPT, Churchill R, Chandler J, Cumpston MS (editors), Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 5.2.0 (updated June 2017), Cochrane, 2017. Available from www.training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Dillon 2004

Dillon J, Zheng L, Merriam JC, Gaillard ER. Transmission of light to the aging human retina: possible implications for age related macular degeneration. *Experimental Eye Research* 2004;**79**(6):753–9.

Downie 2014

Downie LE, Keller PR. Nutrition and age-related macular degeneration: research evidence in practice. *Optometry and Vision Science* 2014;**91**(8):821–31.

Downie 2017

Downie LE. Blue-light filtering ophthalmic lenses: to prescribe, or not to prescribe? *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics* 2017;**37**(6):640–3.

Downie 2018

Downie LE, Busija L, Keller PR. Blue-light filtering intraocular lenses (IOLs) for protecting macular health. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2018, Issue 5. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011977.pub2

Flo 2013

Flo E, Pallesen S, Åkerstedt T, Magerøy N, Moen BE, Grønli J, et al. Shift-related sleep problems vary according to work schedule. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2013;**70**(4):238–45.

Gamble 2014

Gamble AL, D'Rozario AL, Bartlett DJ, Williams S, Bin YS, Grunstein RR, et al. Adolescent sleep patterns and night-time technology use: results of the Australian Broadcasting Corporation's Big Sleep Survey. *PLoS One* 2014;**19**(11): e111700.

Glanville 2006

Glanville JM, Lefebvre C, Miles JN, Camosso-Stefinovic J. How to identify randomized controlled trials in MEDLINE: ten years on. *Journal of the Medical Library Association* 2006; **94**(2):130–6.

Goel 2013

Goel N, Basner N, Rao H, Dinges DF. Circadian rhythms, sleep deprivation, and human performance. *Progress in Molecular Biology and Translational Science* 2013;**119**: 155–90

Ham 1978

Ham WT Jr, Ruffolo JJ Jr, Mueller HA, Clarke AM, Moon ME. Histologic analysis of photochemical lesions produced in rhesus retina by short-wave-length light. *Investigative Ophthalmology and Visual Science* 1978;**17**(10):1029–35.

Ham 1982

Ham WT, Mueller HA, Ruffolo JJ Jr, Guerry D, Guerry RK. Action spectrum for retinal injury from near-ultraviolet radiation in the aphakic monkey. *American Journal of Ophthalmology* 1982;**93**(3):299–306.

Ham 1984

Ham WT Jr, Mueller HA, Ruffolo JJ Jr, Millen JE, Cleary SF, Guerry RK, et al. Basic mechanisms underlying the production of photochemical lesions in the mammalian retina. *Current Eye Research* 1984;**3**(1):165–74.

Hatori 2017

Hatori M, Gronfier C, Van Gelder RN, Bernstein PS, Carreras J, Panda S, et al. Global rise of potential health hazards caused by blue light-induced circadian disruption in modern aging societies. *NPJ Aging and Mechanisms of Disease* 2017;**16**(3):9.

Heath 2014

Heath M, Sutherland C, Bartel K, Gradisar M, Williamson P, Lovato N, et al. Does one hour of bright or short-wavelength filtered tablet screenlight have a meaningful effect on adolescents' pre-bedtime alertness, sleep, and daytime functioning?. *Chronobiology International* 2014;**31** (4):496–505.

Higgins 2003

Higgins JPT, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ* 2003;**327** (7414):557–60.

Higgins 2011

Higgins JPT, Deeks JJ, Altman DG, editor(s). Chapter 16: Special topics in statistics. In: Higgins JPT, Green S, editor(s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.1.0 (updated March 2011). The Cochrane Collaboration, 2011. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Higgins 2017

Higgins JPT, Altman DG, Sterne JAC, editor(s). Chapter 8: Assessing risk of bias in included studies. In: Higgins JPT, Churchill R, Chandler J, Cumpston MS, editor (s). Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.2.0 (updated June 2017), Cochrane, 2017. Available from handbook.cochrane.org.

Ide 2015

Ide T, Toda I, Miki E, Tsubota K. Effect of blue light-reducing eye glasses on critical flicker frequency. *Asia Pacific Journal of Ophthalmology* 2015;**4**(2):80–5.

Isono 2013

Isono H, Kumar A, Kamimura T, Noguchi Y, Yaguchi H. The effect of blue light on visual fatigue when reading on LED- backlit tablet LCDs. web.iiit.ac.in/-apurva.kumar/files/publications/BlueLightFatigue.pdf (accessed 6 August 2018).

Jonas 2014

Jonas JB, Bourne RR, White RA, Flaxman SR, Keeffe J, Leasher J, et al. Visual impairment and blindness due to macular diseases globally: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Ophthalmology* 2014;**158**(4): 808–15.

Karlsson 2001

Karlsson B, Knutssin A, Lindahl B. Is there an association between shift work and having a metabolic syndrome? Results from a population bases study of 27,485 people. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 2001;**58**(11): 745–52.

Khalsa 2003

Khalsa SB, Jewett ME, Cajochen C, Czeisler CA. A phase response curve to single bright light pulses in human subjects. *Journal of Physiology* 2003;**549**(Pt 3):945–52.

Kimura-Minoda 2011

Kimura-Minoda T, Ayama M. Evaluation of discomfort glare from color leds and its correlation with individual variations in brightness sensitivity. *Color Research and Application* 2011;**36**(4):286–94.

Klein 1992

Klein R, Klein BE, Linton KL. Prevalence of age-related maculopathy. The Beaver Dam Eye Study. *Ophthalmology* 1992;**99**(6):933–43.

Klein 1998

Klein R, Klein BE, Jensen SC, Cruickshanks KJ. The relationship of ocular factors to the incidence and progression of age-related maculopathy. *Archives of Ophthalmology* 1998;**116**(4):506–13.

Klein 2005

Klein RJ, Zeiss C, Chew EY, Tsai JY, Sackler RS, Haynes C, et al. Complement factor H polymorphism in age-related macular degeneration. *Science* 2005;**308**(5720):358–9.

Kolstad 2008

Kolstad HA. Nightshift work and risk of breast cancer and other cancers-a critical review of the epidemiologic evidence. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 2008; **34**(1):5–22.

Lawrenson 2017

Lawrenson JG, Hull CH, Downie LE. The effect of bluelight blocking spectacle lenses on visual performance, macular health and the sleep-wake cycle: a systematic review of the literature. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics* 2017; 37(6):644–54.

Leung 2013

Leung TW, Li RW, Kee CS. Blue-light filtering spectacle lenses: optical and clinical performances. *PLoS One* 2017; **12**(1):e0169114.

Lin 2017

Lin JB, Gerratt BW, Bassi CJ, Apte RS. Short-wavelength light-blocking eyeglasses attenuate symptoms of eye fatigue. *Investigative Ophthalmololoy and Visual Science* 2017;**58**(1): 442–7.

Liu 1989

Liu IY, White L, LaCroix AZ. The association of agerelated macular degeneration and lens opacities in the aged. *American Journal of Public Health* 1989;**79**(6):765–9.

Mainster 2005

Mainster MA. Intraocular lenses should block UV radiation and violet but not blue light. *Archives of Ophthalmology* 2005;**123**(4):550–5.

Mainster 2006

Mainster MA. Violet and blue light blocking intraocular lenses: photoprotection versus photoreception. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2006;**90**(6):784–92.

Margrain 2004

Margrain TH, Boulton M, Marshall J, Sliney DH. Do blue light filters confer protection against age-related macular degeneration?. *Progress in Retinal and Eye Research* 2004;**23** (5):523–31.

McCormick 2016

McCormick E. BBCs watchdog investigates blue light. www.aop.org.uk/ot/industry/high-street/2016/11/09/bbc-watchdog-investigates-blue-light (accessed 7 July 2018).

McIntyre 1989

McIntyre IM, Norman TR, Burrows GD, Armstrong SM. Human melatonin suppression by light is intensity dependent. *Journal of Pineal Research* 1989;**6**(2):149–56.

Ng 2014

Ng SM, Lindsley K, Akpek EK. Omega-3 and omega-6 polyunsaturated fatty acids for dry eye syndrome. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* 2014, Issue 3. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD011016

Noell 1966

Noell WK, Walker VS, Kang BS, Berman S. Retinal damage by light in rats. *Investigative Ophthalmology* 1966;**5**(5): 450–73.

Norren 1974

Norren DV, Vos JJ. Spectral transmission of the human ocular media. *Vision Research* 1974;**14**(11):1237–44.

O'Hagan 2016

O'Hagan JB, Khazova M, Price LL. Low-energy light bulbs, computers, tablets and the blue light hazard. *Eye* 2016;**30** (2):230–3.

Owen 2003

Owen CG, Fletcher AE, Donoghue M, Rudnicka AR. How big is the burden of visual loss caused by age related macular degeneration in the United Kingdom?. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2003;**87**(3):312–7.

Pascolini 2012

Pascolini D, Mariotti SP. Global estimates of visual impairment: 2010. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2012; **96**(5):614–8.

Rahman 2014

Rahman SA, Flynn-Evans FE, Aeschbach D, Brainard GC, Czeisler CA, Lockley SW. Diurnal spectral sensitivity of the acute alerting effects of light. *Sleep* 2014;**37**(2):271–81.

Review Manager 2014 [Computer program]

Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration. Review Manager 5 (RevMan 5). Version 5.3. Copenhagen: Nordic Cochrane Centre, The Cochrane Collaboration, 2014.

Rosenfield 2011

Rosenfield M. Computer vision syndrome: a review of ocular causes and potential treatments. *Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics* 2011;**31**(5):502–15.

Rudnicka 2012

Rudnicka AR, Jarrar Z, Wormald R, Cook DG, Fletcher A, Owen CG. Age and gender variations in age-related macular

degeneration prevalence in populations of European ancestry: a meta-analysis. *Ophthalmology* 2012;**119**(3): 571–80.

Schünemann 2017

Schünemann HJ, Oxman AD, Higgins JPT, Vist GE, Glasziou P, Akl E, Guyatt GH on behalf of the Cochrane GRADEing Methods Group and the Cochrane Statistical Methods Group. Chapter 11: In: Higgins JPT, Churchill R, Chandler J, Cumpston MS (editors), Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions Version 5.2.0 (updated June 2017), Cochrane, 2017. Available from training.cochrane.org/handbook.

Sheppard 2018

Sheppard AL, Wolffsohn JS. Digital eye strain: prevalence, measurement and amelioration. *BMJ Open Ophthalmology* 2018;**3**(1):e000146.

Smith 1981

Smith MJ, Cohen BG, Stammerjohn LW Jr. An investigation of health complaints and job stress in video display operations. *Human Factors* 1981;**23**(4):387–400.

Sparrow 2004

Sparrow JR, Miller AS, Zhou J. Blue light-absorbing intraocular lens and retinal pigment epithelium protection in vitro. *Journal of Cataract and Refractive Surgery* 2004;**30** (4):873–8.

Symes 2012

Symes RJ, Cuthbertson FM. Blue-blocking intraocular implants should be used routinely during phacoemulsification surgery--yes. *Eye* 2012;**26**(11):1397–9.

Thornton 2005

Thornton J, Edwards R, Mitchell P, Harrison RA, Buchan I, Kelly SP. Smoking and age-related macular degeneration: a review of association. *Eye* 2005;**19**(9):935–44.

UK Advertising Standards Authority 2015

United Kingdom Advertising Standards Authority (ASA). ASA ruling on Boots Professional Services Ltd t/a Boots Opticians Ltd. www.asa.org.uk/rulings/boots-professional-services-ltd-a15-293200.html (accessed 7 July 2018).

Ustinaviciene 2006

Ustinaviciene R, Januskevicius V. Association between occupational asthenopia and psycho-physiological indicators of visual strain in workers using video display terminals. *Medical Science Monitor* 2006;**12**(7):CR296–301.

van Norren 2007

van Norren D, van de Kraats J. Spectral transmission of intraocular lenses expressed as a virtual age. *British Journal of Ophthalmology* 2007;**91**(10):1374–5.

Viola 2008

Viola AU, James LM, Schlangen LJ, Dijk DJ. Blue-enriched white light in the workplace improves self-reported alertness, performance and sleep quality. *Scandinavian Journal of Work, Environment & Health* 2008;**34**(4):297–306.

Warwick 2017

Warwick A, Lotery A. Genetics and genetic testing for agerelated macular degeneration. *Eye* 18;32(5):849–57.

Weale 1988

Weale RA. Age and the transmittance of the human crystalline lens. *Journal of Physiology* 1988;**395**:577–87.

Wong 2014

Wong WL, Su X, Li X, Cheung CM, Klein R, Cheng CY, et al. Global prevalence of age-related macular degeneration and disease burden projection for 2020 and 2040: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Global Health* 2014;**2**(2):e106–16.

Yang 2006

Yang Z, Camp NJ, Sun H, Tong Z, Gibbs D, Cameron DJ, et al. A variant of the HTRA1 gene increases susceptibility

to age-related macular degeneration. *Science* 2006;**314** (5801):992–3.

Youssef 2011

Youssef PN, Sheibani N, Albert DM. Retinal light toxicity. *Eye* 2011;**25**(1):1–14.

Zeitzer 2000

Zeitzer JM, Dijk DJ, Kronauer R, Brown E, Czeisler C. Sensitivity of the human circadian pacemaker to nocturnal light: melatonin phase resetting and suppression. *Journal of Physiology* 2000;**526**(Pt 3):695–702.

* Indicates the major publication for the study

APPENDICES

Appendix I. CENTRAL search strategy

#1 MeSH descriptor: [Eyeglasses] this term only

#2 (spectacle* or eyeglasses or glasses)

#3 #1 or #2

#4 MeSH descriptor: [Filtration] this term only

#5 blue near/2 light*

#6 blue near/3 filter*

#7 blue near/3 block*

#8 violet near/3 filter*

#9 blue light near/2 (emission* or transmission*)

#10 (short next wavelength near/2 light)

#11 UV near/2 (protect* or attenuat*)

#12 (blueEast or "Blue control" or "Crizal prevencia" or "Dura vision" or Eyezen or Gunnar or "Kodak Total Blue" or StressFree)

#13 #4 or #5 or #6 or #7 or #8 or #9 or #10 or #11 or #12

#14 #3 and #13

Appendix 2. MEDLINE Ovid search strategy

- 1. randomized controlled trial.pt.
- 2. (randomized or randomised).ab,ti.
- 3. placebo.ab,ti.
- 4. dt.fs.
- 5. randomly.ab,ti.
- 6. trial.ab,ti.
- 7. groups.ab,ti.
- 8. or/1-7
- 9. exp animals/
- 10. exp humans/
- 11. 9 not (9 and 10)
- 12. 8 not 11
- 13. Eyeglasses/
- 14. (spectacle\$ or eyeglasses or glasses).tw.

- 15. or/13-14
- 16. Filtration/
- 17. (blue adj2 light\$).tw.
- 18. (blue adj3 filter\$).tw.
- 19. (blue adj3 block\$).tw.
- 20. (violet adj3 filter\$).tw.
- 21. (blue light adj2 (emission\$ or transmission\$)).tw.
- 22. (short adj1 wavelength adj2 light).tw.
- 23. (UV adj2 (protect\$ or attenuat\$)).tw.
- 24. (blueEast or "Blue control" or "Crizal prevencia" or "Dura vision" or Eyezen or Gunnar or "Kodak Total Blue" or StressFree).tw.
- 25. or/16-24
- 26. 15 and 25
- 27. 12 and 26

The search filter for trials at the beginning of the MEDLINE strategy is from the published paper by Glanville 2006.

Appendix 3. Embase Ovid search strategy

- 1. exp randomized controlled trial/
- 2. exp randomization/
- 3. exp double blind procedure/
- 4. exp single blind procedure/
- 5. random\$.tw.
- 6. or/1-5
- 7. (animal or animal experiment).sh.
- 8. human.sh.
- 9. 7 and 8
- 10. 7 not 9
- 11. 6 not 10
- 12. exp clinical trial/
- 13. (clin\$ adj3 trial\$).tw.
- 14. ((singl\$ or doubl\$ or tripl\$) adj3 (blind\$ or mask\$)).tw.
- 15. exp placebo/
- 16. placebo\$.tw.
- 17. random\$.tw.
- 18. exp experimental design/
- 19. exp crossover procedure/
- 20. exp control group/
- 21. exp latin square design/
- 22. or/12-21
- 23. 22 not 10
- 24. 23 not 11
- 25. exp comparative study/
- 26. exp evaluation/
- 27. exp prospective study/
- 28. (control\$ or prospectiv\$ or volunteer\$).tw.
- 29. or/25-28
- 30. 29 not 10
- 31. 30 not (11 or 23)
- 32. 11 or 24 or 31
- 33. exp spectacles/
- 34. (spectacle\$ or eyeglasses or glasses).tw.
- 35. or/33-34

- 36. blue light/
- 37. (blue adj2 light\$).tw.
- 38. (blue adj3 filter\$).tw.
- 39. (blue adj3 block\$).tw.
- 40. (violet adj3 filter\$).tw.
- 41. (blue light adj2 (emission\$ or transmission\$)).tw.
- 42. (short adj1 wavelength adj2 light).tw.
- 43. (UV adj2 (protect\$ or attenuat\$)).tw.
- 44. (blueEast or "Blue control" or "Crizal prevencia" or "Dura vision" or Eyezen or Gunnar or "Kodak Total Blue" or StressFree).tw.
- 45, or/36-44
- 46. 35 and 45
- 47. 32 and 46

Appendix 4. LILACS search strategy

(tw:(spectacles or glasses or eye glasses)) AND (tw:(blue light or blue filter or blue blocking or violet filter or UV protection))

Appendix 5. ISRCTN search strategy

(spectacles OR glasses OR eye glasses) AND (blue light OR blue filter OR blue blocking)

Appendix 6. ClinicalTrials.gov search strategy

(spectacles OR glasses OR eye glasses) AND (blue light OR blue filter OR blue blocking)

Appendix 7. WHO ICTRP search strategy

spectacles AND blue light OR glasses AND blue light OR eyeglasses AND blue light OR spectacles AND blue filter OR glasses AND blue filter OR eyeglasses AND blue filter OR spectacles AND blue blocking OR glasses AND blue blocking OR eyeglasses AND blue blocking

Appendix 8. Data on study characteristics

Primary items		Other items
Methods		
Study design	e.g. parallel group RCT, paired-eye RCT, cluster RCT, cross-over RCT, or other design	

(Continued)

Unit of randomisation/unit of analysis	e.g. one eye included in study, two eyes included in study, both eyes received same treatment, or two eyes included in study, eyes received different treatments			
Participants				
Country		Setting		
Total number of participants		Baseline characteristics Comparison of study groups at baseline		
Number (%) of men and women				
Average age and age range				
Inclusion criteria				
Exclusion criteria				
Interventions				
Intervention (n =) Comparator (n =)	Description of interventions (e.g., spectacle lens name and manufacturer) Frequency with which the intervention (spectacle lenses) were worn over the trial duration			
Outcomes				
Primary and secondary outcomes, as defined in the study report	Details of outcomes Length of follow up and intervals at which outcomes were assessed	Planned/actual length of follow-up		
Notes				
Date conducted	Specify dates of recruitment of participants	Trial registration details Full study name: (if applicable) Corresponding author's name and contact details (email, mailing address) Were trial investigators contacted? (Any relevant details)		
Funding sources				
Declaration of interest				

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

All authors contributed to the development, drafting and finalisation of this protocol.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Laura Downie was a 2015-2017 National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) Translating Research Into Practice (TRIP) Fellow and has undertaken this review as part of her fellowship project. She has previously received funding to undertake clinical trials in the fields of dry eye disease and contact lenses, being unrelated to this work, from Allergan Pty Ltd, Alcon Pty Ltd and Coopervision Pty Ltd.

Peter Keller: none known

Ljoudmila Busija: none known

John Lawrenson received payment from the College of Optometrists' (UK) to co-author an article to inform practitioners about best evidence entitled "Evidence base for the efficacy of blue blocking spectacle lenses for visual comfort and as protection against macular disease".

Christopher Hull received payment from the College of Optometrists' (UK) to co-author an article to inform practitioners about best evidence entitled "Evidence base for the efficacy of blue blocking spectacle lenses for visual comfort and as protection against macular disease".

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

• The University of Melbourne, Australia.

External sources

• National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC), Australia.

This review is undertaken as part of a 2015 NHMRC Translating Research Into Practice (TRIP) Fellowship (APP1091833, CIA: Dr Laura Downie).

- National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), UK.
- Richard Wormald, Co-ordinating Editor for Cochrane Eyes and Vision (CEV) acknowledges financial support for his CEV research sessions from the Department of Health through the award made by the NIHR to Moorfields Eye Hospital NHS Foundation Trust and UCL Institute of Ophthalmology for a Specialist Biomedical Research Centre for Ophthalmology.
 - This protocol was supported by the NIHR, via Cochrane Infrastructure funding to the CEV UK editorial base.

The views expressed in this publication are those of the review authors and not necessarily those of the NIHR, the NHS, or the Department of Health.